FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/4/2020 12:45 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98200-7 Court of Appeals No. 50959-8-II

Supreme Court of the State of Washington

In re Marriage of Ingersoll,

Tomi Lee Ingersoll (n/k/a Tomi Lee Winters),

Respondent,

v.

John Patrick Ingersoll,

Petitioner.

Amended Petition for Review

(sealed portions of Appendix removed per the Court's letter dated February 27, 2020)

Kevin Hochhalter, WSBA #43124 Attorney for Petitioner

Olympic Appeals PLLC PO Box 55 Adna, WA 98522 360-763-8008 kevin@olympicappeals.com

1.	Identity of Petitioner			
2.	Court of Appeals Decision			
3.	Issues Presented for Review			
4.	Statement of the Case			
	4.1	During the dissolution proceedings from 2012-16, Tomi made numerous unfounded allegations of abuse. After trial, the only finding against John was for past alcohol abuse		
	4.2	At the end of summer 2017, Tomi enabled the children to skip required Skype calls with John, then shut off all contact entirely		
	4.3	Tomi reported old allegations to Alaska OCS, resulting in Alaska juvenile court taking custody of the children and ordering no contact with John6		
	4.4	The Washington trial court excuses Tomi for her withholding of the children and takes no action with regard to the Alaska court proceedings		
	4.5	The Washington trial court erroneously relinquished jurisdiction to Alaska		
	4.6	The Court of Appeals reversed the transfer of jurisdiction but affirmed the contempt orders11		
5.	Argument			
	5.1	The case involves an issue of substantial public interest.		

	5.1.1 The Washington trial court erred in failing			
		to intervene to retain jurisdiction14		
5.1.2 The trial court erred in not finding Tomi in				
		contempt for withholding the children as		
		part of her deliberate scheme to use		
		disproven allegations in hopes of obtaining		
		a better result in Alaska17		
6.	Conclusion	n20		
7.	Appendix.			

Table of Authorities

Cases

In re C.T., 100 Cal. App. 4th 101 (2002)					
In re Custody of A.C., 165 Wn.2d 568, 200 P.3d 689 (2009)					
In re Parentage of Ruff, 168 Wn. App. 109, 275 P.3d 1175 (2012)					
S.B. v. State, Dept. of Health & Social Services, 61 P.3d 6 (Alaska 2002)					
Steven D. v. Nicole J., 308 P.3d 875 (Alaska 2013)					
Statutes					
AS 25.30.310					
AS 25.30.320					
AS 25.30.330					
RCW 26.27.211					
RCW 26.27.221					
RCW 26.27.231					
Rules					
RAP 13.4					

1. Identity of Petitioner

John Ingersoll, Appellant, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review, specified below.

2. Court of Appeals Decision

In re Marriage of Ingersoll, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___,
No. 50959-8-II (Jan. 23, 2020) (published in part). A copy of the decision is included in the Appendix at pages 1-19.

3. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. Under the UCCJEA (chapter 26.27 RCW), a state that enters a child custody order has exclusive, continuing jurisdiction. Another state can take temporary, emergency jurisdiction, but only long enough to allow the state with exclusive, continuing jurisdiction to take over and resolve the emergency. The Alaska court attempted to take permanent jurisdiction over the children. The Washington trial court took no action when this violation was brought to its attention. Did the Washington trial court misinterpret and fail to assert its proper jurisdiction?
- 2. A party is in contempt of a parenting plan when the party disobeys the plan in bad faith. Tomi enlisted the aid of Alaska OCS and juvenile court to take custody of the children, based on stale allegations that had already been determined unfounded by Washington authorities, in an attempt to justify her complete withholding of the children from John. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in finding Tomi not in contempt?

4. Statement of the Case

John and Tomi Ingersoll were divorced in 2016 with two minor children after Tomi moved with the children to Alaska. After entry of the final parenting plan in Washington, Tomi continued her previous pattern of making false accusations of abuse against John. She brought her allegations to the authorities in Alaska in hopes of using the Alaska courts to cut John out of the children's lives.

Tomi began withholding the children from John before any orders were entered by the Alaska courts, but she still asserted the Alaska actions as justification for the withholding. The Washington trial court absolved Tomi based on a fundamental misunderstanding of the UCCJEA, which vests exclusive, continuing jurisdiction over custody and visitation in the courts of Washington. Alaska's actions violated the UCCJEA and are void, and therefore could not justify the withholding, particularly when Tomi had solicited Alaska's intervention by making false allegations.

4.1 During the dissolution proceedings from 2012-16, Tomi made numerous unfounded allegations of abuse. After trial, the only finding against John was for past alcohol abuse.

John and Tomi Ingersoll were married in 2000. They have two children, KAI and FMI. In May 2012, Tomi took the children and moved out of the marital home without any notice or explanation to John. See Br. of App. in Ingersoll I, COA No. 49229-6-II, at 3 (citing the trial record). Tomi petitioned for dissolution in June 2012. Id. She moved the children to Alaska. Id. John had no contact with the children from May to August of 2012. Id.

Throughout the dissolution proceedings, which spanned four years and two counties, Tomi made numerous allegations against John of domestic violence, sexual abuse, alcohol abuse, and abusive use of conflict. The first GAL investigated Tomi's allegations of domestic violence and was not convinced that it took place. CP 386. Tomi's therapist did not see any signs that she was a victim of abuse. CP 385. The GAL observed, "She plays the victim role well." CP 382. The GAL had no concerns with John being with the children. CP 383, 384.

In January 2014, Alaska OCS (Office of Children's Services) investigated a report by Tomi of physical and possible sexual abuse of the children by John. CP 394-98. After forensic interviews with the children, OCS concluded that no abuse had occurred. CP 394-98. A report was also made to Washington CPS around the same time, which reported the allegation as unfounded. CP 399-400.

In July 2014, Alaska OCS received another report of sexual abuse and referred it to the Lakewood, WA Police Department. CP 414. Both Lakewood PD and Washington CPS investigated and determined the allegations were unfounded. CP 408-13. The prosecutor declined to file any charges. CP 415. One year of supervised visitation and later observations by GALs did not raise any suspicion of abuse. See CP 417 (trial testimony of the second GAL). The GAL found no reason to believe the children would be at risk with John. CP 419-20.

At trial, Tomi admitted that John had never physically attacked her. *E.g.*, CP 430. In fact, Tomi was the more violent partner, having punched John, overturned the kitchen table, and threatened John with kitchen knives, on separate occasions. CP 374-75, 425-26, 430. In the final orders and parenting plan, the only finding against John was of past alcohol abuse. *See* RP, Aug. 8, 2017, at 30-31. Since then, John has continued in a treatment program even after completing what was required by the court. *Id.* at 31.1

Tomi may respond with allegations that John has ongoing problems, but such allegations would be irrelevant to the issues being brought before this Court in this Petition. If Tomi wants to argue that John should not have contact with the children, she should do so here in Washington, not Alaska, through a petition to modify the parenting plan, not through self-help withholding of visitation.

4.2 At the end of summer 2017, Tomi enabled the children to skip required Skype calls with John, then shut off all contact entirely.

After FMI's return to Alaska on August 8, 2017,² Tomi refused to have required Skype calls. CP 334. She would make excuses for why the children could not participate or that the technology would not work. *E.g.*, CP 334. On August 27, Tomi claimed that FMI was in the bathroom with a headache. CP 334, 597. However, John was able to hear FMI talking and laughing in the next room until Tomi told FMI to be quiet. CP 592-94.

On September 1, 2017, John had to wait over 30 minutes before either of the children showed up to talk. CP 334. KAI had nothing but angry words for John. *E.g.*, CP 633-35. FMI came to the room, and he and John had a pleasant conversation. CP 334, 639. This was the last time Tomi allowed the children to have contact with their father.

For the calls on September 3, 8, 10, 15, 17, 22, and 24, Tomi connected the call but did not produce the children to talk to John. CP 334-35. She left John alone staring at an empty

² In early 2017, John had concerns with the environment in Tomi's home in Alaska and reported his concerns to Alaska OCS, which opened an investigation. CP 129. On June 28, John sought leave of the Washington court to keep FMI with him until Alaska OCS completed its investigation. CP 67-68. The trial court denied the request. RP, June 28, 2017, at 7-8; RP, Aug. 7, 2017, at 7. The trial court found John in contempt and ordered FMI returned on August 8. CP 255; RP, Aug. 8, 2017, at 32-33.

room for about 30 minutes per call, occasionally returning to make excuses for why the children were not present. *E.g.*, CP 600-08 (September 17 call).

On September 17, Tomi claimed that FMI did not feel well and could not talk. CP 607. But John could hear FMI talking happily in the next room. CP 606-07. On September 22, John could hear Tomi in the next room telling one of the children to be quiet. CP 343, 346. Tomi claimed that everyone was too sick to talk. CP 349. On September 24, John could again hear Tomi in the next room telling FMI to be quiet. CP 355. Tomi claimed that FMI had a "massive headache." CP 357.

On September 29 and on all call dates in October and November, Tomi did not have her Skype account online at all. CP 335, 703.

4.3 Tomi reported old allegations to Alaska OCS, resulting in Alaska juvenile court taking custody of the children and ordering no contact with John.

Soon after FMI's return to Alaska, Tomi again reported allegations of abuse to Alaska OCS, including repeating numerous allegations (such as those described in Part 4.1) that had previously been determined unfounded by authorities in both Washington and Alaska. CP 519-20. Even though Tomi knew that Washington had jurisdiction over custody and

visitation, she wanted Alaska to take official action to keep the children away from John. CP 521.

Based on these stale allegations, OCS verbally suggested to Tomi that the children should not be alone with John. CP 615. On September 25, OCS put its suggestion in writing in an email to Tomi. CP 615. John had scheduled an in-person visitation with the children in Alaska for September 28 to October 2. Tomi asked John to postpone his visit but gave no indication that she would withhold the children from him if he came. See CP 615.

When John attempted to pick up the children from their school, he discovered that Tomi had kept the children home. CP 702. Tomi refused to deliver the children to John. CP 702. John returned to Washington.

On October 13, Alaska OCS filed a "Non-Emergency Petition for Adjudication of Children in Need of Aid" in the Alaska courts. CP 539, 661. The petition alleged a "long history of violence and mistreatment of his children and spouse," which could only have referred to the stale, unfounded allegations already resolved in both Washington and Alaska. CP 813; see also CP 539 (making reference to old allegations of domestic violence, sexual abuse, and substance abuse). Alaska juvenile

³ The petition itself is not in the record. This quote is a general description of the allegations in the petition, written by Alaska OCS in its response to John's motion to dismiss the Alaska proceedings.

court held a probable cause hearing on November 2 without notice to John. CP 557-58, 571. The court found probable cause that the children were children in need of aid, and Alaska took custody of the children, placed them with Tomi, and ordered that they have no contact with John. CP 557-58, 572, 574.

Even though there was no court order until November 2, 2017, and no formal action by OCS until the October 13 petition, Tomi withheld the children from Skype visits with John for the entire months of September and October.

4.4 The Washington trial court excuses Tomi for her withholding of the children and takes no action with regard to the Alaska court proceedings.

After the missed Skype calls in August, John moved for contempt. CP 581-83. After Tomi withheld the children in September, John filed a reply in support of his contempt motion that notified the trial court of the withholding and additional missed Skype calls. CP 333-35. After becoming aware of the Alaska juvenile court proceedings, John filed a Memorandum of Law on November 15, notifying the trial court of Alaska's attempt to take jurisdiction in violation of the UCCJEA (chapter 26.27 RCW and Alaska Statutes chapter 25.30). CP 684-91.

The contempt hearing was held November 17. The trial court declined to hear any issues other than the missed Skype calls in August, as presented in the original motion. CP 694. The

trial court noted its awareness of the child welfare proceedings in Alaska, but would not make a ruling on jurisdiction or otherwise take any action with regard to the Alaska proceedings. CP 696; RP, Nov. 17, 2017, at 10. The trial court noted, "there isn't any other action pending in this case. So Alaska is going to do what Alaska is going to do, I think." RP, Nov. 17, 2017, at 6.

John brought a second motion for contempt to address the additional Skype dates and the issue of jurisdiction under the UCCJEA. CP 705-06. John noted that there had never been a finding of emergency jurisdiction in Alaska. RP, Dec. 19, 2017, at 6. Again, the trial court failed to recognize Washington's jurisdiction and refused to take any action regarding the Alaska proceedings: "I don't know what to do now because the Alaska case is ongoing. And it's not a UCCJEA deal yet. This is a Parenting Plan. The CPS involvement supersedes what's going on." RP, Dec. 19, 2017, at 12.

The trial court found that Tomi disobeyed the parenting plan regarding the September visitation and Skype calls from September 3 through October 8. CP 729. The trial court excused Tomi for skipping Skype calls after the Alaska no-contact orders were entered on October 13. CP 729. The trial court found that Tomi's disobedience was not intentional because the children

⁴ In fact, the petition filed by OCS was specifically brought as a "Non-Emergency Petition." *See* CP 539.

refuse to participate. CP 729. The trial court found that Tomi did not act in bad faith because of Alaska OCS's concerns about contact between John and the children. CP 730. The trial court also found that John's motion was brought without reasonable basis and awarded attorney's fees to Tomi. CP 730.

4.5 The Washington trial court erroneously relinquished jurisdiction to Alaska.

John moved to dismiss the Alaska Child in Need of Aid (CINA) proceedings for lack of jurisdiction under the UCCJEA. CP 817-24. John argued that Washington had exclusive, continuing jurisdiction that could only be relinquished through a decision of the Washington courts. CP 821-22. The Alaska court determined that it would communicate with the Washington court. See CP 798.

The Washington trial court sent an email to the parties notifying them of "a UCCJEA hearing," without giving any indication of what issues would be addressed or what, if anything, was contemplated to be decided. CP 798. John sought clarification but received none. CP 833; see CP 797.

At the hearing, the trial court raised, for the first time, the question of whether Washington had become an "inconvenient forum" under the UCCJEA. RP, May 17, 208, at 4. Without any analysis—or even any mention at all—of the

statutorily required factors, the trial court announced its decision to enter an order relinquishing jurisdiction to Alaska. RP, May 17, 2018, at 5.

4.6 The Court of Appeals reversed the transfer of jurisdiction but affirmed the contempt orders.

Shortly before issuing its original Opinion, the Court of Appeals issued an order staying the trial court's order relinquishing jurisdiction, thereby retaining Washington's exclusive, continuing jurisdiction over custody of the children. The original, unpublished opinion was filed July 2, 2019. The court granted John's motion to publish and issued a new, partpublished opinion on January 23, 2020.

In the published portion of the opinion, the Court of Appeals reversed the transfer of jurisdiction to Alaska. The trial court had failed to provide proper notice of the hearing and had failed to give the parties a meaningful opportunity to participate in the decision as required by the UCCJEA.

In the unpublished portion of the opinion, the court affirmed the trial court's contempt orders. The court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Tomi's noncompliance was justified because of the actions of the Alaska courts and OCS.

Since the time of the Court of Appeals order staying the trial court's decision on jurisdiction, the Washington parenting plan should be in effect. The parenting plan requires weekly Skype visits and six weeks of summer vacation with John here in Washington. John has requested that his visitation resume, even offering to negotiate a middle ground, but so far Tomi has refused to allow any visitation.

5. Argument

A petition for review should be accepted when the case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

5.1 The case involves an issue of substantial public interest.

"Jurisdiction in interstate child custody disputes is governed by the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (UCCJEA), chapter 26.27 RCW. It is detailed, specific, and mandatory." *In re Parentage of Ruff*, 168 Wn. App. 109, 111, 275 P.3d 1175 (2012) (emphasis added). The UCCJEA was designed by a conference of states to deal with the problems of conflicting interstate child custody orders, forum shopping, and the drawn out and complex child custody legal proceedings often encountered by parties where multiple states are involved. *In re Custody of A. C.*, 165 Wn.2d 568, 574, 200 P.3d 689 (2009).

Although both Washington and Alaska have adopted the UCCJEA, the courts of both states failed to properly carry it out in this case. Tomi, unsatisfied with the Washington parenting plan, took advantage of the Alaska authorities' lack of knowledge of the case to seek a more favorable result there—one in which she could cut off John from having any contact with his children—all based on stale allegations that had already been investigated and determined to be unfounded.

The public interest in this case is in justice and equity for parents with custody or visitation rights across state borders. Once allegations have been resolved and an appropriate parenting plan crafted by the courts of one state, a parent in another state should not be able to enlist the courts of the other state to obtain a different result based on the same, disproven allegations. The UCCJEA is intended to prevent such forum shopping, but it only works if the courts of the respective states correctly interpret and apply it as early as possible.

Pierce County Superior Court failed to apply the act in a timely manner, and then excused Tomi's actions by failing to find her in contempt for withholding the children on the basis of Alaska actions that Tomi herself solicited by reporting the stale, unfounded allegations. Tomi's forum shopping, aided by the failures of the Washington trial court, has deprived the Ingersoll children of visitation with their father for over two years now.

Months after this initial failure, the Washington trial court finally stepped in at the urging of the Alaska court, but still failed to take the action required by the UCCJEA, instead abdicating its role and relinquishing jurisdiction to Alaska.⁵

Had the trial court taken appropriate action under the UCCJEA when John first brought the issue to the court's attention, the over two-year withholding of the children could have been prevented. Preventing the injustice and inequity that results from improper forum shopping in violation of the UCCJEA is a matter of great public interest.

5.1.1 The Washington trial court erred in failing to intervene to retain jurisdiction.

The UCCJEA limits the circumstances under which one state may modify an "initial child custody determination" made by another state. *Custody of A. C.*, 165 Wn.2d at 574. Put simply, Alaska could modify the Ingersolls' parenting plan **only if** Washington expressly declined jurisdiction or if no party resided in Washington any longer. *See Id.*; RCW 26.27.211, .221; AS 25.30.310, .320.

In doing so, the trial court failed to provide proper notice or allow the parties to meaningfully participate. This error has been reversed by the Court of Appeals and is not now at issue. This Petition relates to the trial court's failures **prior to** the reversed jurisdictional order.

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