FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/25/2020 8:00 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98200-7 (Court of Appeals No. 50959-8-II)

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re Marriage of Ingersoll,

Tomi Lee Ingersoll (n/k/a Tomi Lee Winters),

Respondent,

v.

John Patrick Ingersoll,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

:

John Purbaugh, WSBA # 19559 Attorney for Respondent

NORTHWEST JUSTICE PROJECT

715 Tacoma Ave. S. Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 272-7879 JohnP@nwjustice.org

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

Two days after the trial court's first ruling denying his contempt motion regarding KAI's failure to visit, Ingersoll made a report to the Alaska Office of Children's Services (OCS), claiming neglect in Winters' household and that KAI had physically abused FMI. CP 129, 197, 465. OCS opened an investigation into Ingersoll's reports. CP 188-189.

When Ingersoll finally returned FMI to Alaska in early August 2017, OCS interviewed him. CP 614. FMI made disclosures prompting OCS to also investigate Ingersoll. CP 615. FMI was afraid of Ingersoll, and of upcoming Skype calls with his father. *Id.* FMI's doctor independently reported suspected child abuse of FMI by Ingersoll to OCS. CP 321, 323.

The children's therapist reported that "[b]oth children have expressed a fear of their father and they have developed traumatic stress reactions related to their experiences with him." CP 330. KAI's mental health symptoms worsened when she was forced to have contact with Ingersoll, and FMI had "begun exhibiting somatic symptoms during times when he is supposed to be participating in Skype visits with his father." *Id.* The therapist recommended that the children not be forced to have visitation with Ingersoll at this time and recommended a number of steps he could take to re-establish a healthy relationship with his children. *Id.*

- 5 -

On September 25, 2017 OCS sent Winters an email stating OCS had "significant concerns for the children's safety" if they had contact with their father during the continuing investigation. CP 615, 621. They further specifically asked Winters "what actions" she intended to "take to keep the children safe." *Id.* Winters asked Ingersoll to postpone his scheduled visit to Alaska in September 2017 while she sought clarification from OCS about what they expected of her. CP 615.

Ingersoll refused to reschedule. Upon arrival he was served in the Fairbanks, Alaska airport with a Long Term Domestic Violence Protective Order (DVPO) protecting Winters. CP 661, 665. This order found that Ingersoll had committed, or attempted to commit, crimes involving domestic violence (including violating a protective order) against Winters, and that he represented a credible threat to her safety. CP 667.

Faced with conflicting demands -- by OCS that she protect the children from their father, and by Ingersoll that she provide the children to him for a visit under the parenting plan -- Winters made the difficult decision to withhold the children from Ingersoll. CP 714. In an effort to comply with OCS' demand that she protect the children, Winters also obtained a 20-day Ex-Parte DVPO prohibiting contact between the children and Ingersoll. CP 661, 673-681.

- 6 -

Before the 20-day DVPO involving the children expired, the State of Alaska interceded to protect the children by filing a "Petition for Adjudication of Children in Need of Aid (CINA) and for Temporary Custody" under Alaska Statutes chapter 47.10. CP 539, 661. At a hearing on November 2, 2017 the Alaska Juvenile Court took temporary custody of the children from both parents, temporarily placed the children with Winters, and ordered that they have no contact with Ingersoll except as allowed by OCS or the CINA court. *Id.*, CP 570-578.

D. Ingersoll Files Further Contempt Motions, Despite Alaska's Investigation, DVPOs and Child Welfare Orders.

Ingersoll filed further contempt motions during the summer and fall of 2017. One alleged that Winters had failed to make the children available for video visits during several dates in August. CP 582. Another alleged additional missed video visits and a missed in-person visit in September. CP 705-708. Ingersoll pursued these contempt proceedings despite being aware of the pending OCS investigation of suspected child abuse, despite OCS' stated concerns about his unsupervised contact with the children, despite being served with the Alaska DVPOs, and despite being informed about the CINA proceedings in Alaska. CP 321, 323, 615, 621, 661, 665, 673-681, 570-578. The trial court denied both contempt motions. CP 748-755 (November 17, 2017), 756-760 (December 19, 2017). It found

- 7 -

Ingersoll had brought the second motion without a reasonable basis and awarded fees to Winters. CP 758-759.

Ingersoll asserted at both the November and December contempt hearings that the Alaska investigations and orders should not excuse Winters' failure to comply with the parenting plan because Washington had exclusive, continuing jurisdiction under the Uniform Child Custody and Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (UCCJEA), chapter 26.27 RCW, to make or permanently modify child custody determinations regarding the children. CP 689, 704.

In both the November and December 2017 hearings the trial court communicated its view that in contempt enforcement proceedings it was not exercising its jurisdiction to make or modify a "child custody determination," and that any future modification proceedings that might be filed in family court⁴ would be subject to the control of the juvenile court during the pendency of any child welfare proceedings. ⁵ *Eg.*, RP November 17, 2017 at 11; RP December 19, 2017 at 11-12.

⁴ Neither Ingersoll or Winters has filed an action in Washington to modify the original child custody determination made in the 2016 Parenting Plan.

⁵ Once child welfare proceedings are initiated, any modification action filed by private parties would have been subject to the primary jurisdiction of the juvenile court. Each State has a *parens patriae* interest in (and jurisdictional authority over) the welfare of minors present in its territory. Alaska's assertion of this interest and jurisdiction appears in AS 47.10.010(a): "Proceedings related to a child under 18 years of age residing or found in the State are governed by this chapter when the child is alleged to be or may be

The Court of Appeals affirmed all of the contempt rulings in *Ingersoll II*. It held that the trial court "did not abuse its discretion when determining Winters was justified in obeying the Alaska court orders." App. 18. It rejected Ingersoll's argument that Winters' reliance on the Alaska orders was unreasonable because they were contrary to the UCCJEA, holding that "Alaska superior courts had the ability to initiate child welfare proceedings based, at least in part, on Ingersoll's own allegations to the Alaska OCS." App.17. The Court of Appeals also awarded attorney fees to Winters for addressing Ingersoll's appeal of the contempt orders. App. 18.

E. The Trial Court Relinquishes UCCJEA Jurisdiction to Alaska But is Reversed on Procedural Grounds.

Ingersoll eventually sought dismissal of the Alaska child welfare proceedings, arguing that under the UCCJEA Washington had exclusive jurisdiction to permanently modify orders regarding the children's

determined by the Court to be a child in need of aid under AS 47.10.011." In both Washington and Alaska, once a juvenile court asserts this authority over children in child welfare proceedings (called dependency in Washington, and Child in Need of Aid [CINA] in Alaska) any further determination of child custody must occur in the juvenile court, unless that court expressly authorizes family court to make such decisions. RCW 13.04.030 grants juvenile court exclusive original jurisdiction over children alleged to be dependent, and concurrent jurisdiction with family court over child custody proceedings. RCW 13.34.155 allows dependency court to establish or modify a parenting plan when doing so will implement a permanency plan of care for child and result in dismissal of the dependency case. Similarly, AS 47.10.113 provides that, except by agreement of the parties, any request to make, modify or vacate a custody or visitation order affecting a child alleged to be in need of aid must be heard as part of the CINA proceedings.

custody. CP 817. A Guardian ad Litem for the children, OCS and Winters all opposed dismissal, arguing that Alaska had appropriately asserted temporary emergency jurisdiction based on Ingersoll's harmful conduct toward KAI and FMI. CP 802, 812, 815. In the ensuing conference between the two states' courts, the Alaska juvenile court judge described the CINA proceedings as taken "on the basis of an emergency" and asked that Washington allow Alaska to have jurisdiction. RP May 17, 2018 at 4-5. The Washington family court judge agreed, noting "I don't think there's much in Washington. What we have been doing is contempt hearings." *Id.* at 5.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's order relinquishing UCCJEA jurisdiction to Alaska in *Ingersoll II*, holding that although the request to do so came directly from the Alaska court, the Washington court failed to comply with the motion notice requirements of CR 7 and also failed to afford the parties a meaningful opportunity to participate in the conference. App. 11, 14. The Court of Appeals remanded for a hearing on whether Washington is an inconvenient forum, at which the parties may submit information and provide briefing. App. 14. Ingersoll's motion to enforce the Washington parenting plan pending the hearing on remand was denied by the Court of Appeals. RApp. 14. Scheduling of the hearing on remand awaits issuance of the mandate in *Ingersoll II*. RAP 12.5.

- 10 -

III. ARGUMENT

A. No UCCJEA Issues Survive for Further Review.

Ingersoll argues (as he did in the Court of Appeals) that the trial court "misinterpreted" its UCCJEA jurisdiction and should have "asserted" that jurisdiction sooner. *Petition* 1, 14. The Court of Appeals did not reach this issue, because Ingersoll prevailed on all UCCJEA issues when it reversed the trial court's ruling relinquishing Washington's UCCJEA jurisdiction to Alaska. App. 14.

"Only an aggrieved party may seek review by the appellate court." RAP 3.1. A party is not aggrieved by a favorable decision, and cannot properly appeal from such a decision. *Reynolds v. Harmon*, 193 Wn.2d 143, 150, 437 P.3d 677 (2019) (citations omitted); *Paich v. N. Pac. Ry. Co.*, 88 Wn. 163, 165-66, 152 P. 719 (1915). Disappointment in the result or disagreement with the court's reasoning do not entitle a party to appeal a favorable decision; "[h]e must be aggrieved in a legal sense." *Sheets v. Benevolent & Protective Order of Keglers*, 34 Wn.2d 851, 855, 210 P.2d 690 (1949). "[A] party is not entitled to seek review of an issue by a higher court when it prevails on that issue below." *See, State v. Alexander*, 125 Wn.2d 717, 721 n. 6, 888 P.2d 1169 (1995).

- 11 -

Because the reversal was on procedural grounds, the Court of Appeals remanded for a new hearing on whether Washington had become an inconvenient forum. Rapp. 14. Winters does not seek Supreme Court review of that result, and Ingersoll's *Petition* does not object to the Court of Appeals' failure to reach the merits of the inconvenient forum issue. By leaving intact Washington's exclusive continuing jurisdiction, the Court of Appeals granted Ingersoll complete relief on UCCJEA issues. The trial court has yet to "interpret" or "assert" its UCCJEA jurisdiction in the hearing on remand. Once it does, Ingersoll may again seek appellate review of the new decision if he is aggrieved by it.

Ingersoll does not identify any relief that could be awarded now to remedy the timing of the courts' communication prior to its UCCJEA decision. A case is moot when a court can no longer provide effective relief. *Blackmon v. Blackmon*, 155 Wn.App. 715, 719, 230 P.3d 233 (2010).

Ingersoll also does not show how he was prejudiced by the trial court's failure to communicate sooner, beyond speculating that *if* the UCCJEA conference had been held sooner, Winters' withholding of the children based on the Alaska orders "*could have been* prevented." *Petition* 14. (emphasis added). This would only be true if the Washington court had then decided to retain jurisdiction and if further proceedings were

- 12 -

favorable to Ingersoll. Even if speculation were appropriate as part of Ingersoll's search for an issue of public interest, this particular speculation ignores the result of the trial court's UCCJEA conference: it relinquished Washington's jurisdiction to Alaska, where the children had lived since 2012. CP 794, 909. Although this result was reversed on procedural grounds, Ingersoll offers no reason to believe that the substantive decision would have been different if made sooner. Error without demonstrated prejudice affecting the outcome of the case is not a basis for reversal on appeal. *E.g., Carlisle Packing v. Sundanger,* 259 U.S.225, 42 S.Ct. 475, 66 L.Ed. 927 (1922); *McDonald v. Department of Labor & Industries*, 104 Wn.App. 617, 17 P.3d 1195 (2001).

For all of these reasons, no UCCJEA issues survive for further appellate review.

B. The Trial Court's Fact-Specific Contempt Rulings Do Not Present Any Question of Substantial Public Interest.

 Contempt Rulings Are Reviewed For An Abuse of Discretion. A trial court's discretionary decisions in a contempt proceeding are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Marriage of Eklund*, 143 Wn.App.
 207, 212, 177 P.3d 189 (2008). The trial court's findings of fact in such a decision are reviewed for substantial evidence, even if they are based solely on sworn statements, and conclusions of law are reviewed to see if they are supported by the findings. Marriage of Rideout, 150 Wn.2d 337,

351, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003). A trial court abuses its discretion where its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons. *Marriage of Black*, 188 Wn.2d 114, 127, 392 P.3d 1041 (2017).

RCW 26.09.160(2)(b) states:

If, based on all the facts and circumstances, the court finds after hearing that the parent, in bad faith, has not complied with the order establishing residential provisions for the child, the court shall find the parent in contempt of court.

Contempt rulings are, thus, necessarily fact-specific. Fact-specific rulings are not typically found to present a substantial public interest. *See, e.g., State v. Lundstrom*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 388, 429 P.3d 1116 (2018), *rev. denied*, 193 Wn.2d 1007, 443 P.3d 800 (2019); *In re Flippo*, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413 (2016); *In re Sanchez*, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1089 (2017).

2. Winters Was Justified in Obeying Alaska Court Orders.

Ingersoll's claimed issue of public interest is "justice and equity for parents with custody or visitation rights across state borders." *Petition* 13. Ingersoll argues (as he did in the Court of Appeals) that the trial court abused its discretion by excusing Winters' noncompliance based on Alaska court orders she "solicited" by making stale allegations. *Id.* This argument ignores Ingersoll's own primary role in the commencement of Alaska child welfare proceedings. He, not Winters, made a complaint to Alaska authorities. CP 129, 197, 465. During the investigation of Ingersoll's complaint, OCS interviewed FMI, who made disclosures prompting an investigation of his father. CP 615.

Ingersoll's argument also ignores a doctor's report of suspected child abuse of FMI by his father (CP 614-615) and a therapist's report of traumatic stress reactions by both children to their father. CP 330. It requires the court to speculate which allegations OCS acted on, since as Ingersoll notes, the CINA petition is not in the record. *Petition* 7.

The Court of Appeals recognized that, regardless of what Winters had said about Ingersoll, Alaska had jurisdiction to act based on Ingersoll's own allegations:

> Alaska superior courts had the ability to initiate child welfare proceedings based, at least in part, on Ingersoll's own allegations to the Alaska OCS. *See* RCW 26.27.231; AS 25.30.330. Therefore, the superior court did not abuse its discretion by determining that Winters was unable to comply with the parenting plan due to OCS's instruction to Winters and the temporary orders entered by the Alaska courts.

App. 17. Winters "was justified in obeying" those court orders. App. 18.

- 15 -

3. Speculation Does Not Create an Issue of Public Interest.

As discussed in argument section III.A above, Ingersoll's speculation that a different decision might have been made if the UCCJEA hearing had been held sooner does not turn the trial court's fact-specific discretionary contempt rulings into issues of substantial public interest warranting Supreme Court review. RAP 13.4(b).

C. Attorney Fees.

The Court of Appeals awarded Winters attorney fees for addressing Ingersoll's appeal of the contempt hearing orders. App. 18. Pursuant to RAP 18.1(j), Winters requests a supplemental award of attorney fees for answering Ingersoll's *Petition*.

IV. CONCLUSION

Ingersoll's Petition for Review should be denied.